THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000327

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division,Respondent,

v.

Brandon ReedAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
OCT 29 2019
SC Court of Appeals

P. Andrew Anderson
Kristina M. Anderson
ANDERSON & ANDERSON, LLP
211 York Street, NE
Aiken, South Carolina 29801
(803) 648-6000
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE FAMILY COURT ORDER IS VOID FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION WHEN THE MATTER WAS HEARD BY CONSENT AS A MOTION BEFORE THE COURT OF ORIGINAL JURISDICTION AND THE STATE PARTICIPATED IN THE HEARING AND IN THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER AND THE ORDER WAS NOT LATER APPEALED AND AT THIS POINT CONSTITUTES THE LAW OF THE CASE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a Declaratory Judgment action filed by SLED in the Court of Common Pleas in Aiken, South Carolina on March 22, 2018. SLED in the underlying action sought to declare *void ab initio* a Family Court Order issued on April 22, 2017. The Family Court Order was issued with both Appellant and the State of South Carolina participating. SLED was aware of the proceeding and independently took no action.

The Aiken County Family Court adjudicated then Defendant Reed delinquent in 1994 for a single count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Reed was eleven (11) years of age at the time of the offense and twelve (12) when he entered a plea in *In the Interest of Brandon Anthony Reed, Case No.: 1994-JU-02-396*. At the time of Reed's plea, there was no Sex Offender Registry (SOR) requirement for minors. Two years later, in 1996 the SOR was amended to encompass not only criminal convictions in general sessions, but also delinquent adjudications as to minors in family court and Reed was placed on the registry.

Some twenty-three (23) years later, Reed, through undersigned counsel, filed a Motion for Removal from the SOR. (R. p. 31). The Motion was filed on February 15, 2017, in the court of original jurisdiction, the Aiken County Family Court. Additionally,

this Motion and the subsequent actions in the matter were coordinated with the Aiken County Solicitor's Office, who was involved on behalf of the State throughout the process. (R. p. 32). A hearing was held before the Family Court in the matter on March 7, 2017. Reed appeared with Counsel and his mother at the time of the hearing. The Aiken County Solicitor's Office was also present and actively participated. Extensive evidence was presented regarding Reed and his treatment and life in the twenty-three (23) years since the charge. This information included a polygraph examination administered by the Aiken County Sheriff's Office's full-time polygrapher showing that Reed had not re-offended since the 1994 incident. Additionally, reports of psychological evaluations were presented regarding Reed's treatment and state of mind. (R. pgs. 135-147). Based upon the evidence presented, the Family Court decided that Reed should be removed from the SOR registry he was placed on at the age of twelve (12). The Order of Removal from the SOR was entered by the Aiken County Family Court on April 21, 2017. (R. p. 30). The State in no way opposed or voiced objection to this Motion or the removal Order.

Prior to the entry of the Order in question, during March and April 2017, counsel for Defendant had phone conversations and email exchanges with SLED and forwarded SLED a copy of the draft Order for input. (R. p. 51). After the Order's entry, SLED sent a letter on May 25, 2017, to the court reporter ordering a copy of the transcript of the hearing that was held in Defendant's case to remove him from the SOR. (R. p. 150). But no reconsideration or notice of appeal was filed.

Thereafter, SLED filed a Petition for Original Jurisdiction to the South Carolina Supreme Court on September 1, 2017. (R. p. 34). SLED sought original jurisdiction of the State Supreme Court to declare void four (4) orders regarding removal of individuals

from the SOR. The Reed Order of April 2017 was one of the Orders challenged.

Counsel for Reed filed a Return on behalf of Defendant. SLED's Petition for Original Jurisdiction was denied by the South Carolina Supreme Court by Order dated December 14, 2017. (R. p. 29).

SLED then filed this declaratory judgment action with the Court on March 22, 2018. (R. p. 52). Appellant responded and moved for dismissal/summary judgment. (R. pgs. 58, 81, 101). The Court heard argument on the matter and issued an Order declaring the Family Court Order void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on November 11, 2018. (R. pgs. 113, 4). Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration and the Court denied the Motion by form order on January 23, 2019. (R. pgs. 100, 101, 1). Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on February 22, 2019. (R. p. 112).

Procedural History by Date

1994 SC Act 497 - General Assembly enacts SOR (it applies only to adult offenders)

September 14, 1994 - Reed was adjudicated delinquent on single count of csc/minor

1996 SC ACT 444 - SOR amended to cover all offenders, regardless of age

February 15, 2017 - Reed Motion for Removal from SOR Filed

February 15, 2017 - Request for hearing filed in Reed case, State of South Carolina
Represented by Aiken County Solicitor's Office

February 24, 2017 - Hearing Notice issued to Reed and State

March 7, 2017 - Hearing held on Motion/Attorneys for Reed and State present

March/April, 2017 - Phone and email exchanges with SLED

April 21, 2017 - Order entered that removes Reed from the SOR

May 25, 2017 - Attorney General's Office orders Reed hearing transcript

September 1, 2017 - Attorney General/SLED files Petition for Original Jurisdiction with South Carolina Supreme Court to declare Reed Order void

December 14, 2017 - South Carolina Supreme Court Denies SLED's Petition

March 22, 2018 - Attorney General/SLED Files Complaint for Declaratory Judgment declaring Reed April 2017 Order *void ab initio*

November 9, 2018 - Court issues Order declaring void the Order of April 21, 2017

November 19, 2018 - Defendant files Motion for Reconsideration

January 23, 2019 - Court issues Order denying Motion for Reconsideration

February 22, 2019 - Notice of Appeal timely filed

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue.” Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Walls, Court of Appeals SC, OP No.: 5653, June 5, 2019. “Whether reviewing a grant of summary judgment or a judgment on the pleadings, we apply the same legal standards as the trial court.” Zeigler v. Dorchester County, Sup. Court SC, OP No.: 27885, May 8, 2019. Rodarte v. University of SC, 419 S.C. 592, 600, 799 S.E.2d 912 (2017). “We review questions of law *de novo*.” Summerville v. city of North Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41(2008).

ARGUMENT

I. THE FAMILY COURT HAD BOTH SUBJECT MATTER AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE ORDER

The trial Court's Orders are based upon a determination that the Family Court Order of April 2017 was void when signed and that the Family Court lacked subject

matter jurisdiction to hear the motion that was filed because Appellant was over the age of 21 at the time. In support of this determination, the lower Court cite's S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-510(B) which states that "*whenever the court has acquired the jurisdiction of any child under seventeen years of age, jurisdiction continues so long as, in the judgment of the court, it may be necessary to retain jurisdiction for the correction or education of the child, but jurisdiction shall terminate when the child attains the age of twenty-one years.*" (R. p. 4).

Specific to the jurisdiction of the Family Court, S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530 states in relevant part: (A) The family court has exclusive jurisdiction: (25) *to modify or vacate any order issued by the court.* The Family Court always retains the exclusive jurisdiction to modify or vacate the orders issued by the Family Court. This jurisdiction is without limitation or expiration and is independent of § 63-3-510(B). Family Courts routinely sign Orders related to cases before it regarding juvenile offenders even after those offenders reach the age of 21. Most obvious, is the Family Court's execution of Expungement Orders related to juvenile offenses that qualify. There is no time limit for the execution of orders to expunge the then-juvenile now-adult's criminal record. Additionally, the Family Court, as the Court of original jurisdiction, would have exclusive jurisdiction to modify or vacate no contact orders issued by the Court in a juvenile matter, even after the defendant is an adult. No other court would have the power to modify the prior Family Court order. In the present case, the matter before the Family Court was handled by way of a motion, not the filing of a new action. (R. p. 31). Any motion filed in this matter would by necessity carry the Family Court case number from 1994. There was no objection to the Family Court hearing the motion and issuing a ruling.

The Family Court Order of April 2017 was entered after a motion and a hearing with the active participation of the prosecuting entity, the State of South Carolina. Appellant sat for a polygraph by the polygrapher for the Sheriff's Department. (R. p. 135). Throughout the time the Family Court considered the Motion and the draft Order, SLED was aware of the pending motion and was supplied with a draft of the proposed Order prior to entry. Neither SLED, nor the State on its behalf, raised any objection to the Family Court issuing the April 2017 Order. In fact the transcript of the proceeding before the Family Court clearly depicts that the State of South Carolina did not oppose either the Court hearing the motion or Appellant Reed's removal from the registry. (R. pgs. 135, 140-142). After entry of the April Order, Appellant was removed from the SOR. Even though SLED timely ordered the transcript of the proceeding, there was no motion for reconsideration filed and no direct appeal taken. In September 2017, approximately five months after the April Order was entered, SLED filed a Petition for Original Jurisdiction with the Supreme Court. (R. p. 34). That Petition was denied in December 2017. (R. p. 29). SLED chose the method by which it intended to seek review or appeal of the April 2017 Order and that method was unsuccessful.

The State of South Carolina did not object in anyway to the entry of the April 2017 Order. Instead it chose to participate and acquiesce to the entry of the Order. An unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance. Erickson v. Jones Street, 368 S.C. 444, 481, 629 S.E.2d 653 (2006) (where a defendant who chose for tactical or other reasons to acquiesce in a trial then waives any later objection), Charleston Lumber v. Miller Housing, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869 (2000). Similarly, in Judy v. Martin where the subject matter jurisdiction of a magistrate

was disputed AFTER an entered order:

Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal but expressly rejected by the appellate court. C.J.S. Appeal & Error § 991 (2008); see also Bakala v. Bakala, 352 S.C.612, 576 S.E.2d 156 (2003) (holding that a family court judge could not overrule the prior unappealed order of another family court judge because it had become the law of the case); In re Morrison, 321 S.C. 371n.2, 468 S.E.2d 651 n. 2 (1996) (noting that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal); Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. V. Perry et.al., 261 S.C. 538, 201 S.E.2d 245 (1973) (holding that where a ruling on a demurrer to complaint is not appealed from it becomes the law of the case); Watkins v. Hodge, 232 S.C. 245, 247-248, 101 S.E. 2d 657, 658 (1958) (refusing to consider jurisdictional matter of underlying case where issue had been ruled upon and not challenged on appeal).

381 S.C. 455, 457, 674 S.E.2d 151, (2009).

The State of South Carolina participated in the entry of the April 2017 Order and then SLED chose to challenge it by filing a Petition for Original Jurisdiction, which was unsuccessful. The April 2017 Order of the Family Court became the law of this case and should be affirmed.

II. SLED'S DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION LACKS ANY JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY AND IS AN IMPROPER USE OF THE ACT

SLED did not seek a declaratory judgment from the Circuit Court to determine its rights or obligations under any law or statute or to answer any pending questions between the parties. When the lower Court's November 2018 and January 2019 Orders were entered declaring that the April 2017 Order is void, that Family Court Order had been the 'law of the case' for more than a year and a half. At that point, and since all time for reconsideration or appeal had lapsed, Defendant/Appellant had long since been off the SOR and made decisions in his life based on the fact that he was no longer on the

registry, like his housing and his employment. SLED waited almost a year to even file the underlying cause of action for declaratory judgment. SLED attempts to use the Declaratory Judgment Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, *et. seq.*, as a second way to attack the April 2017 Order of the Family Court and bypass time limitations in place for motions for relief or appeal that could have been filed at the time the April 2017 Order was entered, but were not.

The Declaratory Judgment Act and the law surrounding it clearly require that there be a '*justiciable issue*' between the parties for resolution or clarification. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-20 states: "Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations" Here there is no question for determination between the parties. The only issue presented is the collateral attack of the April 2017 Order. "To state a cause of action under the Declaratory Judgment Act, a party must demonstrate a justiciable controversy." Sunset Cay LLC v. Folly Beach, 357 SC 414, 423, 593 SE2d 462, 466 (2004). "A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character." Clifford Thompson v. State of South Carolina, 415 S.C. 560, 565, 785 S.E.2d 189 (2016), *quoting* Power v. McNair, 255 S.C. 150, 154, 177 S.E.2d 551, 553 (1970).

"The Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act is not an independent grant of jurisdiction. Further it is fundamental that the Declaratory Judgment Act does not eliminate the case or controversy requirement. The existence of an actual controversy is essential to jurisdiction to render declaratory judgment." Tourism Expenditure Review Committee v. City of Myrtle Beach, 403 S.C. 76, 81-82, 742 S.E.2d 371 (2013).

The Declaratory Judgment Act was intended to provide clarification and guidance to those who in good faith have issues pending between them for resolution. This matter finds the State of South Carolina, now through its law enforcement division, SLED, deciding that after it clearly participated in the removal of Appellant from the SOR that it wants the removal set aside and Appellant placed back on the SOR. The only matter in controversy appears to be the State/SLED seeking to set aside an Order which was issued with its active participation and acquiescence. The State/SLED has already missed any direct appeal opportunity so the only avenue left to challenge the State's own conduct/participation is via a declaratory judgment. This second bite at the appellate apple is not a proper use of the Declaratory Judgment Act. SLED'S cause of action for declaratory judgment should have been dismissed by the lower Court and the April 2017 Order should stand as the law of this case.

III. SLED'S ACTION IS BARRED BY RES JUDICATA AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL AND THE FAMILY COURT ORDER IS THE LAW OF THE CASE

SLED's attempt to use the Declaratory Judgment Act in this manner is also barred by the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. SLED is not now nor has it ever been an entity independent of the State of South Carolina, S.C. Code § 23-3-10, *et. seq.* There is clearly no requirement in the SOR that mandates that SLED be named individually as a party in any matter which may result in the addition or removal of individuals to/from the registry. The State of South Carolina was represented and actively participated throughout the underlying matter, the outcome of which SLED now seeks to set aside. (R. pgs. 135-147). SLED itself was independently aware of the pending

Family Court Motion on behalf of Appellant. SLED independently received calls and emails regarding the same. SLED ordered the transcript after the hearing in the underlying matter. (R. p. 150). The State/SLED failed to file any motion for relief or any direct appeal regarding the Order that it now challenges through declaratory judgment.

The State of South Carolina was actively involved and participated in Appellant's removal from the SOR. Appellant was removed from the sex offender registry in April 2017 and allowing the State/SLED to change its position and require that the Order they themselves had input in be struck down subjects Appellant to substantial prejudice. The April 2017 Family Court Order, which went unchallenged in anyway, is now the law of the case. "A final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or their privies from relitigating issues that were or could have been raised in that action." Allen v. McCurry, 449 U.S. 90, 94, 101 S.Ct. 411, 414, 66 L.Ed.2d 308 (1980). "In order for *res judicata* to apply the parties, or their privies, and subject matter must be identical and the prior suit adjudicated the issue." Equivest Financial LLC v. Ravenel, 422 S.C. 499, 812 S.E.2d 438 (2018). "A 'judgment on the merits' as that phrase is used in conventional statement of *res judicata* doctrine, is not necessarily a judgment based upon a trial of contested facts." Allen. "Fed.R.Civ.P. 54(a) defines 'judgment' as it is used in 'these rules to include a decree and any order from which an appeal lies.'" *Id.* The State of South Carolina appeared and was actively involved in the Motion filed to remove Appellant from the SOR. SLED's declaratory judgment action is barred by the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel in that the claims and/or issues presented have already been litigated or could have already been litigated in a prior matter. "Where a ruling on

demurrer to complaint was not appealed from, it became the law of the case.” Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Perry, 261 S.C.538, 542, 201 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1973).