RECEIVED

SFP 05 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000327

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division.....Respondent,

v.

Brandon Reed.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

HARLEY L. KIRKLAND
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100382
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3680
(803)734-3677 (Fax)
hkirkland@scag.gov

Counsel for Respondent SLED

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

ARGUMENT

At bottom, this is a simple case. An order was issued by the Family Court to Appellant purporting to remove him from South Carolina's Sex Offender Registry. However, the Family Court, whose jurisdiction over Appellant ended when he turned twenty-one, did not have jurisdiction to issue the order to Appellant, who was over 30 years old at the time of issuance. S.C. Code Ann. §63-3-510(B). Acting without jurisdiction renders the order *void ab initio*, as the Circuit Court found below. *Turner v. Malone*, 24 S.C. 398, 403 (1886). Procedurally, as a void order, it was subject to collateral attack under South Carolina's Declaratory Judgment Act. *Yarbrough v. Collins*, 293 S.C. 290, 292, 360 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1987); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-60. This is to say nothing of the fact that SLED, the state agency in charge of maintaining the registry, was not a party to the Family Court action. Thus, SLED cannot be bound by this order or collaterally estopped from challenging it. In sum, the Circuit Court rightly recognized the deficiencies in the order and declared it void. Appellant's instant appeal provides no argument warranting a different result.

I. The Reed order is void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction.³

i. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Registering on the SOR is a civil requirement. *Thompson v. State*, 415 S.C. 560, 564 n. 3, 785 S.E.2d 189, 191 n. 3 (2016) (“As we have repeatedly stated, the sex offender registry is a civil requirement separate and apart from the criminal punishments associated with sexual offenses in this state.”). “Subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine

³ The lower court declined to decide if the order was void for lack of personal jurisdiction, after making the dispositive finding that family court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. Nonetheless, Appellant argues in their brief that the court had personal jurisdiction, so it is addressed here as well out of an abundance of caution.

cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” *Johnson v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Serv.*, 372 S.C. 279, 284, 641 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2007) (internal citation omitted). The Family Court has the exclusive power to hear and determine cases involving juveniles. *In re Shaquille O’Neal B.*, 385 S.C. 243, 247-51, 684 S.E.2d 549, 552-53 (2009). But Family Courts that acquired subject matter jurisdiction over juveniles when they were under the age of eighteen lose subject matter jurisdiction over those same juveniles when they turn twenty-one. S.C. Code Ann. §63-3-510(B). The Family Court lost subject matter jurisdiction over Mr. Reed at the latest in 2003, when he was 21 years old—but still reopened his case in 2017 and issued an order that removed Mr. Reed from the SOR. Clearly the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Mr. Reed, who was then in his thirties. Consequently, the Reed order is void.

Appellant argues the Family Court did have jurisdiction pursuant to §63-3-530(A)(25). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530(A)(25) (“The family court has exclusive jurisdiction to modify or vacate any order issued by the court”). This is an incorrect assertion. Section 63-3-530 is titled “Jurisdiction in domestic matters” and clearly only applies to domestic cases, not juvenile criminal cases. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530. The Family Court clearly attains jurisdiction over juvenile matters in § 63-3-510, and that section also sets the limits of that jurisdiction when it provides that the Family Court’s jurisdiction ends when the juvenile turns twenty-one. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-510. The Family Court attained jurisdiction over Mr. Reed when he was a juvenile, and lost it, when he turned 21. The statutes providing for the Family Court’s jurisdiction over domestic matters cannot confer subject matter jurisdiction on the court in this juvenile criminal case.⁴

4 The Appellant argues that because the Family Court can also grant expungements, this

Lastly, the lack of subject matter jurisdiction was evident on the face of the record. The 1994 juvenile case number is in the caption. (Order (Removal from Sex Offender Registry) in Case Number: 2994-JU-02-396). The fact that Mr. Reed was adjudicated delinquent in 1994 at the age of 12 is also on the face of the record. *Id.* As is the fact that the court issued its order in 2017, well past Mr. Reed's twenty-first birthday. *Id.* Because the Family Court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction was evident on the face of the record, the Reed order is subject to collateral attack. *Yarbrough v. Collins*, 293 S.C. 290, 292, 360 S.E.2d 300, 301.

ii. Personal Jurisdiction

"It is a principle of general application in Anglo-American jurisprudence that one is not bound by a judgment *in personam* in litigation in which he is not designated a party or to which he has not been made a party by service of process." *Hansberry v. Lee*, 311 U.S. 32, 40, 61 S.Ct. 115, 117, 85 L.Ed. 22 (1940). SLED is the only entity with the authority to remove an individual from the SOR. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-410(A) ("The registry is under the direction of the Chief of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division . . . SLED shall develop and operate the registry"); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. §23-3-420 ("[SLED] shall promulgate regulations to implement the provisions of this article."). SLED, however, was not involved in the 2017 Family Court hearing; it was not a party. In spite of SLED's absence, the Reed order commands SLED to remove Mr. Reed from the SOR. (Order (Removal from Sex Offender Registry) in Case Number: 2994-JU-02-396). Because SLED was not designated a party or made a party by service of process, the order is void for lack of personal jurisdiction, at least so far as the order

clearly shows that the Family Court's jurisdiction continues beyond a juvenile's twenty-first birthday. However, S.C. Code Ann. §63-19-2050 grants the Family Court the authority to grant expungements. There is no similar statute that grants the Family Court the authority to go back into a closed juvenile criminal file when the juvenile is in his thirties and issue a legally incorrect order removing him from the sex offender registry.

concerns SLED.

Finally, the lack of personal jurisdiction was evident on the face of the record. SLED is not in the caption of the Reed order (nor was it made a party through service of process), yet the order directs SLED to remove Mr. Reed from the SOR. Consequently, the order is subject to collateral attack. *Yarbrough v. Collins*, 293 S.C. 290, 292, 360 S.E.2d 300, 301.

II. The South Carolina Supreme Court authorizes collateral attacks on orders that are void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.

“A judgment may be collaterally attacked if the court lacked jurisdiction and the lack of jurisdiction appears on the face of the record.” *Yarbrough v. Collins*, 293 S.C. 290, 292, 360 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1987) (citing *Turner v. Malone*, 24 S.C. 398, 403 (1886) (“It has often been said that a judgment is void whenever the court which pronounced it had not jurisdiction of the parties to the judgment or of the subject matter in controversy.”)). The Court does not limit the means by which a void order may be collaterally attacked. In this collateral attack, SLED legitimately asserts its claim under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act (“the Act”). SLED asked the circuit court to declare the Reed order void, thereby restoring SLED’s ability to require Mr. Reed to register and ending the conflict between them.

i. An action for declaratory judgment is the appropriate means of attacking the Reed order.

“Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have the power to declare rights, status and other legal relations” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-20. The legal relation between Mr. Reed (a person who by law must register on the SOR) and SLED (the sole entity with authority to enforce the registry) is unilaterally broken and inhibited by the void Reed order. Although this specific legal relationship is not specifically enumerated in the Act, this is no limitation on the court’s ability to resolve the controversy:

The enumeration in Sections 15-53-30 to 15-53-50 does not limit or restrict the exercise of the general powers conferred in Section 15-53-20 in any proceeding when declaratory relief is sought in which a judgment or decree will terminate the controversy or remove the uncertainty.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-60. Declaring the Reed order void will end the uncertainty regarding SLED's authority to enforce Mr. Reed's SOR requirements, as well as end the controversy between them. In addition, the purpose of the Act is "to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations." S.C. Code Ann. §15-53-130. The statute commands courts to construe and administer the Act liberally. *Id.*

III. SLED is not barred by *Res Judicata* or Collateral Estoppel

Res judicata or collateral estoppel cannot be invoked to protect or sustain a void order, especially one issued by a Court lacking subject matter jurisdiction. "Subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived even with consent of the parties." *Tatnall v. Gardner*, 350 S.C. 135, 137, 564 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 2002); *see also Hunter v. Boyd*, 203 S.C. 518, 525, 28 S.E.2d 412, 416 (1943).

It is axiomatic that an order entered by a court without subject matter jurisdiction is utterly void. *Coon v. Coon*, 356 S.C. 342, 347, 588 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 2003), *aff'd as modified*, 364 S.C. 563, 614 S.E.2d 616 (2005). Moreover, a lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. *Hallums v. Bowens*, 318 S.C. 1, 3, 428 S.E.2d 894, 895 (Ct. App. 1993). Additionally, a court lacking subject-matter jurisdiction cannot enforce its own decrees. *Id.*

Simmons v. Simmons, 370 S.C. 109, 116, 634 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2006). It is clear that the Reed Order is utterly void and unenforceable because the Family Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. A void order cannot provide the foundation for a *res judicata* or collateral estoppel argument.

Nonetheless, even if a void order could provide such support, *res judicata* and collateral estoppel do not apply to this case.

i. ***Res Judicata* is Inapplicable**

Mr. Reed also argues that SLED should be barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel from bringing this action. These arguments are unavailing. “*Res judicata* bars subsequent actions by the *same parties* when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action *between those parties*.” *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011) (emphasis added). Notably, SLED and the Solicitor’s Office acting on behalf of the State of South Carolina are not the “same parties.” *Cf.* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(c) (drawing a distinction between the State and its entities in the context of litigation under the tort claims act). In South Carolina, each of the various branches of government, political subdivisions, agencies, departments, and institutions is its own entity.

The question then becomes can the Solicitor’s Office bind SLED through its representation of the State of South Carolina generally. *See* S.C. Code Ann § 1-7-320 (“Solicitors shall perform the duty of the Attorney General and give their counsel and advice to the Governor and other State officers, in matters of public concern, whenever they shall be, by them, required to do so; and they shall assist the Attorney General, or each other, in all suits of prosecution in behalf of this State when directed so to do by the Governor or called upon by the Attorney General.”) This statute empowers Solicitors to do a variety of things. It does not, however, allow Solicitors to bind SLED, or any other State agency for that matter, by virtue of its role prosecuting on behalf of the State. Indeed, the Solicitor’s Office can no more bind SLED than it can bind the Department of Transportation, or the Department of Health and Environmental Control, or a County Sheriff. They are entities distinct from the State of South Carolina proper. Therefore, SLED is not barred by *res judicata* from bringing the instant action given it was not a party to the prior litigation.

Furthermore, even if the Solicitor's office could bind SLED, it would be inappropriate for SLED to comply with an order that is contrary to law. It is well established that two people cannot contract to perform an illegal act. *See, e.g., Bank of U.S. v. Owens*, 27 U.S. 527, 539 (1829) (“‘This action is apparently founded on a contract to disobey the law.’ ‘The defence set up proves the principle of the contract.’ ‘Then how shall an action be maintained in that which is a direct violation of a public law. The contract is bottomed in *malum prohibitum* of a very serious nature in the opinion of the legislature; how then can we enforce a contract to do that very thing which is so much reprobated by the act?’”). Similarly, the Solicitor's Office cannot bind SLED to act in a manner that is contrary to the law. Stated differently, SLED cannot comply with the Order and remove Mr. Reed from the registry without violating the law (enumerating only three avenues of removal) and undermining the public policy goals of the registry (maintaining an informative database of sex offenders to aid in public safety and welfare).

Additionally, as a third-party to the litigation giving rise to the void order, SLED did not have the ability to intervene in the criminal prosecution or to appeal the void order directly. *Cf. United States v. Sikes*, No. 4:15CR3128, 2016 WL 6495500, at *1 (D. Neb. Nov. 2, 2016) (recognizing the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure “provide no path to intervention in a criminal matter by a third-party.”); *State v. Miller*, 289 S.C. 316, 317, 345 S.E.2d 489, 490 (1986) (looking to the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure to interpret South Carolina's Rules of Criminal Procedure); *State v. Wills*, 409 S.C. 183, 202, 762 S.E.2d 3, 13 (2014) (Beatty, J., dissenting) (“Given the absence of definitive case law in our state and federal jurisdiction, I have looked to other federal jurisdictions for guidance.”). Whether SLED requested a transcript of the proceeding is immaterial to whether it had standing to intervene and pursue an appeal. It clearly

did not. While the Solicitor's Office might have been heard at the hearing, SLED—as the entity responsible for overseeing and maintaining the registry, S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-410(A)—was not. In fact, SLED was not made aware of this case until after the Judge ruled at the hearing and a proposed order was being prepared. Notwithstanding SLED's inability to intervene or appeal, it has consistently attempted to challenge this incorrect and void order—even petitioning the South Carolina Supreme Court for a writ of *certiorari*.

ii. Collateral Estoppel is Inapplicable

Mr. Reed's collateral estoppel argument similarly fails. The law on collateral estoppel in South Carolina was succinctly stated in *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp*:

Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same. *Judy v. Judy*, 383 S.C. 1, 7, 677 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 2009). The party asserting collateral estoppel must demonstrate that the issue in the present lawsuit was: (1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment. *Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 369 n. 1, 315 S.E.2d 186, 189–90 n. 1 (Ct. App. 1984). “While the traditional use of collateral estoppel required mutuality of parties to bar relitigation, modern courts recognize the mutuality requirement is not necessary for the application of collateral estoppel where the party against whom estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to previously litigate the issues.” *Snavely v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 379 S.C. 386, 398, 665 S.E.2d 222, 228 (Ct. App. 2008). The doctrine of collateral estoppel should not be rigidly or mechanically applied. *Carrigg v. Cannon*, 347 S.C. 75, 81, 552 S.E.2d 767, 770 (Ct. App. 2001). Thus, even if all the elements for collateral estoppel are met, when unfairness or injustice results or public policy requires it, courts may refuse to apply it. *State v. Bacote*, 331 S.C. 328, 331, 503 S.E.2d 161, 163 (1998).

Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 550, 554–55, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). Mr. Reed cannot show that the issue of whether Mr. Reed is required to register was necessary to support the prior judgment regarding his juvenile adjudication. Indeed, it was not necessary or even possible for the Court to find that Mr. Reed does not have to register in order for him to be adjudicated delinquent.

Mr. Reed also cannot show that SLED had a full and fair opportunity to previously litigate the issues. As mentioned above, SLED had no opportunity to be heard on this issue and SLED never would have consented to an order that required it to do something in violation of the sex offender registry act. Had SLED been given an opportunity to be heard the court would have heard the correct legal arguments for why Mr. Reed does, in fact, have to register. As discussed above, SLED was not a party to the criminal action and had no ability as a non-party to appeal. Furthermore, SLED did quickly attempt to challenge the finding by petitioning the Supreme Court, and thereafter filing the civil declaratory judgment action.

Additionally, the doctrine of collateral estoppel should not be rigidly applied when, as would be the case here, unfairness or injustice results and the public policy does not support it. Even if a finding regarding the sex offender registry was necessary to support his juvenile conviction, and even if SLED, as a separate government agency, had a full and fair opportunity to litigate this issue in the criminal case, it would be unfair to allow Mr. Reed to benefit from this error of law when all other convicted sex offenders are required to register. Indeed, it would defeat the policy of the SOR, which is to provide notice to society at large of the presence of a sex offender.

Lastly, and perhaps most importantly, applying collateral estoppel to this order is very much against public policy. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400; *In re Ronnie A.*, 355 S.C. 407, 409, 585 S.E.2d 311, 312 (2003) (“The intent of the legislature in enacting the sex offender registry law is to protect the public from those offenders who may re-offend.”); *State v. Walls*, 348 S.C. 26, 31, 558 S.E.2d 524, 526 (2002) (“From this language, it is clear the General Assembly did not intend to punish sex offenders, but instead intended to protect the public from those sex offenders who may re-offend and to aid law enforcement in solving sex crimes.”); *Hendrix v.*

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